RECEIVED

Feb 24 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No: 2021-000797

Sandra R. Hoffman,.....Appellant,

v.

State Farm Fire and Casualty
Company,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Pamela R. Mullis, Esquire
Mullis Law Firm
1229 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799 9577
prmullis@mullislawfirm.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment as a matter of law for the Defendant, dismissing Plaintiff's cause of action for breach of contract based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 for failing to timely file her claim within the three-year statute of limitations for a breach of contract when the Plaintiff filed her claim within three years from the date the Defendant wrongly refused to pay her insurance claim?**
- 2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment where Plaintiff offered more than a mere scintilla of evidence showing the Plaintiff was not aware there was any statute of limitations or any deadline in her insurance policy to submit her claim and therefore not aware the Defendant had breached the contract of insurance to the Plaintiff?**
- 3. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment where the Plaintiff offered a scintilla of evidence demonstrating all the essential elements of breach of contract accompanied by fraud where the Defendant did not have a time limitation in the insurance contract for submitting items for payment by the Defendant, the Defendant misled the Plaintiff in continuing to submit items pursuant to her insurance claim by actively participating in submission of Plaintiff's damaged items, and where the Defendant had no intention of paying her insurance claim?**
- 4. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to Defendant on Plaintiff's action for Breach of Contract accompanied by Fraud based on a prior order where there was no finding by the Court the Plaintiff's pleading were insufficient to meet the elements of fraud; no finding the facts in the complaint were viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff; no finding the pleadings were liberally construed so that substantial justice is done between the parties and where the matter is more properly submitted to and decided by a jury?**
- 5. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgement to the Defendant on the Plaintiff's Bad Faith Cause of Action; where the Plaintiff offered a mere scintilla of evidence of all the essential elements of bad faith; and specifically where the Defendant does not have any explicit time limitation in their insurance contract for submitting items for payment by the Defendant but wrongfully refuses to pay the Plaintiff's claim for breach of contract, the Defendant was aware of the limitations in the insurance contract and misled the Plaintiff into continuing to act pursuant to the contract with no intention of performing under the contract?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed a complaint on October 12, 2018, against her insurance company Defendant State Farm Fire and Causality Company for breach of contract, Breach of contract accompanied by fraud, and bad faith. The Defendant filed an Answer and then an Amended Answer alleging the Plaintiff had failed to cooperate pursuant to the contract of insurance, the Plaintiff had made material misrepresentations or misleading statements in connection with her insurance claim, was barred by the doctrine of laches, and the Plaintiff had failed to file her claim within the applicable statute of limitations which the Defendant claimed was three years from the date of the damage to her property on January 8, 2014.

Defendant filed a motion to change venue and a motion to dismiss, heard by L. Casey Manning in June 2019. Plaintiff did not object to the venue being changed and Judge Manning permitted the Plaintiff to amend her pleadings to add more specificity to her fraud allegations in the motion hearing. The Plaintiff did not prepare a proposed order granting the change of venue, denying the motion to dismiss and permitting the Plaintiff to amend her pleadings to more specifically plead fraud. The pleadings were not amended as Plaintiff believed them to be sufficient. There were no findings in the Order regarding the pleadings' insufficiency, the Court had not made any ruling in regard to the pleadings but merely permitted the amendment based on the allegations of insufficiency made in the Defendant's motion to dismiss. The Order was signed by Judge L. Casey Manning dated August 16, 2019.

Thereafter, a hearing on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was held before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson on December 17, 2020. On February 9, 2021, Judge Dickson granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment upon finding that Plaintiff had failed to timely file her case within the applicable statute of limitations *S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530*. The Court

further dismissed Plaintiff's Fraud cause of action for failing to amend her pleadings.

Finally, the Defendant was granted summary judgment on Plaintiff's Bad Faith action for failure to put forth a mere scintilla of evidence meeting the elements of Bad Faith, specifically the element related to State Farm's reasonable basis for denying the claim.

Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCR, was denied by form order served on April 27, 2021; Appellant's Notice of Appeal was served and filed on May 14, 2021. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Defendant State Farm Insurance Company (hereinafter "State Farm" or Defendant) provided a contract of insurance to the Plaintiff Sandra R. Hoffman for the contents of her home located at 503 Timber Trail Court. (*State Farm Policy – Exh.B, R. pp. 103-113*) The insurance policy insured losses from - "sudden and accidental discharge . . . of water . . . from within a plumbing . . . system. . ." (*SF Policy -pg. 8 para 12;R. p. 109*). The policy spells out under SECTION I- LOSS SETTLEMENT COVERAGE A- DWELLING an insured must repair or replace damaged parts of the property and make claims under this section "**within two years** after the date of loss, . . ." (*SF Policy pg. 11 Sec I, coverage A - 1.(a) (3); R. p. 110*)

However, under the COVERAGE B- PERSONAL PROPERTY section the policy has no time limitation and states "if property is not repaired or replaced within two years after the date of loss, (State Farm) will pay only the cost to repair or replace less the depreciation." (*SF Policy pg. 12 – Coverages B – 1(a)(3); R.110*) The policy distinguished between damages to the insured's dwelling and the insured's personal property and does not include any language placing a time limit on which an insured has to submit her damages or a list of damaged items pursuant to the policy.

On **January 8, 2014**, the Plaintiff suffered a covered loss pursuant to the valid insurance policy. The Plaintiff promptly reported the claim to her insurance company State Farm and began a long and arduous process of listing, classifying, photographing, documenting, and researching her damages which included hundreds of items that were stored in her garage and the FROG, room over her garage, where the water damage had occurred. The Plaintiff actually called State Farm the morning of the incident when she did not know how to turn off the water and later reported the incident, as required by the policy, on February 4, 2014 as per the claims note and conversation between the parties. (*Depo Hoffman pg. 17 – pg. 18 ln 20; R. p. 60; State Farms claims file pg.12; R. p. 172*). As part of this process the Plaintiff was emailed a link by the Defendant’s adjuster where she submitted items into a database/computer system called Enservio that she could log into and submit information. The Plaintiff was not told by anyone at her insurance company that she had a time limit to upload or submit her damages or the information about the individual items in her claim. (*Plaintiff. Depo pg. 56 ln 21 to pg. 57 ln 5; R. pp. 69-70*) The Defendant’s adjuster who was assisting the Plaintiff, advised the Plaintiff about the value of her claims pursuant to her policy and the time limits related to those valuations but .. “never discussed the statute of limitations with Ms. Hoffman at any time...” (*T. Edwards Depo pg. 122 ln 23-25; pg. 123 ln 1; R. p 159*)

On, October 25, 2017, more than three years after her date of loss, Plaintiff is continuing to have detailed conversations with the Defendant’s adjuster regarding her lost items and inputting information into the claims system, Enservio. (*Id at 60 ln 5-10;R. p. 143*) The Adjuster did not advise the Plaintiff she could not submit any more items, did not tell the Plaintiff to stop spending her time photographing and researching the value for her hundreds of personal items and fails to advise the Plaintiff the Defendant State Farm considers her claim time barred because the statute of limitations has run on the claim . (*Id at pg. 60 ln 11- 21; R. p. 143*) The adjuster further testifies

her manager later advised her of the three-year statute of limitations, and that managers typically review files every 30 days. However, this adjuster had continued to assist the Plaintiff in submitting additional items into Enservio, and had multiple phone conversations with her regarding her damages items. (*Id* pg. 61; *R. p. 144*) When asked if the claim was handled properly the Defendant's claims adjuster testified, she "would have made the policyholder aware of the statute of limitations. . . (that) should have been explained to the insured" (*Id* at pg. 85 *ln 1-9*; *R. p. 150*). Furthermore, the difference in how the claim was paid pursuant to her policy was not only unclear to the Plaintiff but the Defendant's adjuster who stated, "so that could have been explained more to the insured as well." (*Id* at pg. 85 *ln 25 – pg. 86 ln1*; *R. p 150*) The adjuster also indicated the best practice would have been to verbally explain policy limitations and statutes of limitations and follow up with a letter, however, even when the adjuster explained the difference in payments made pursuant to the policy, she failed to follow up with a letter to the Plaintiff. (*Id. At pg. 86, ln 16 -25 pg. 87 1- 11*; *R. p. 150*).

At the request of the Defendant's adjuster, Tamyachta Edwards, the Plaintiff researched, photographed, and submitted information regarding her items that were damaged in her claim throughout this time and into 2017. The Plaintiff and adjuster were having twenty (20) minute conversations regarding the damaged items and the Plaintiff's claims in April and October of 2017. (*Depo T Edwards pg. 55 ln 21 – pg. 58 ln 19*; *R. pp. 142-143*) This included the submission by the Plaintiff of 2,055 photographs to the Defendant. The Plaintiff was sent a check September 28, 2016, for property damage including replacement costs of personal property she lost due to this incident, however the check was not cashed by the Plaintiff as she did not know if cashing the check would close out her claim and the Plaintiff had additional items she wanted to add to the claim. The Plaintiff's concerns were justified when she continued to submit damaged items after

State Farm sent her an initial check in 2016 because she and the Defendant's adjuster had difficulty submitting more items into the claims system later (*Depo. S. Hoffman pg53. Ln 15 – pg. 54 ln 6;R. p. 69*).

Beginning on April 3, 2017, and throughout 2017 the Plaintiff continued to sort items in her home and attempted to determine the value of her lost property including some large Persian rugs she believed were valued over thousands of dollars each. The Defendant's records indicate the Plaintiff continued communicating with and submitting information to the Defendant's Adjuster Tamyachta Edwards. (*SF Claims File -Hoffman SF 4-3-2017, pg. 20 – 18;R. p. 164*).

On April 3, 2017, the Plaintiff called State Farm and the Defendant's adjuster called her back. The Plaintiff told the adjuster how her daughter had put some bags of wet clothes that were damaged in the attic and the Plaintiff had just found them and she wanted to add them to the claim. The claims note indicates a discussion regarding forwarding the additional contents and images to Enservio, and the Plaintiff needing to "email anything that needs revision that may have been incorrect before" (*SF Claims file Hoffman SF 20;R. p. 164*).

October 25, 2017, Adjuster responded to an email from the Plaintiff and called her to discuss specific items and values of items including, antique clowns, antique butler, and Persian rugs. The adjuster needed more information regarding the rugs quality and the Plaintiff was to take pictures of the rugs. (*SF claims file 20;R. p. 164*). On November 20, 2017, the Defendant's adjuster received an email from the Plaintiff with updated pricing, but the claims file does not indicate a phone call or conversation. (*SF claims file 19;R. p 163*).

On August 19, 2020, the Defendant's adjuster who assisted the Plaintiff throughout this claim provided deposition testimony. She indicated she had been working for the Defendant State Farm for twelve years as a claims processor and then as a claims specialist, and that she normally handled

any single claim for two years, pursuant to the policy. (*Depo. Defendant State Farm adjuster T. Edwards pg 87,R. p. 150*) This is because there is a two-year policy provision that an insured is paid replacement costs for items after the date the loss occurred. (*Edwards Depo, p. 9;R. p. 131*) The adjuster also testified that she believes State Farm has a duty to advise their insured if there is an approaching time limitation to make claims under their policy. (*Edwards Depo 20 ln 14 pg. 21 ln 9;R.. p.133-134*) The adjuster testified the Plaintiff submitted damaged items for her claim thorough a program called Enservio. The adjuster testified the State Farm claims file indicated the Plaintiff initially reported the claim on February 4, 2014 but would not have a record of the Plaintiff having called her own State Farm agent weeks earlier on January 8, 2014. (*Edwards Depo 24-25;R. pp. 134-135*)

The adjuster testified on November 9, 2015, Plaintiff was having problems with her claims forms and called State Farm asking for assistance. The adjuster called the Plaintiff back to assist her with her problems with her claims forms this was NOT, as the Defendant alleged in their Motion for Summary Judgment, a phone call initiated by State Farm to Hoffman to “remind her” of a benefit deadline. (*Edwards Depo. Pg 37-38;R. p. 138, Def Mot for SJ Facts section,R. p. 51*)

On January 18, 2016 the adjuster was performing ‘adjustments’ of the Plaintiff’s items submitted in Enservio for payment of the replacement costs pursuant to her policy. In these adjustments the State Farm adjuster was revaluing personal items and they were ‘depreciated based on age and condition’. (*Edwards Depo pg. 39,R. p. 138*). The adjuster testified the Plaintiff continued to put information regarding her damaged items into Enservio until December 6, 2017, and the adjuster stated she was permitted to update her pricing (correct the value of her damaged items) throughout 2017. (*Edwards Depo 34-35,R. p. 137*). The adjuster testifies pursuant to the policy items submitted by the Plaintiff in her claim prior to two years are paid replacement costs

value and items submitted by the Plaintiff after two years are paid actual cash value. (*T. Edwards Depo. Pg. 44 ln16-20,R. p. 139*)

On December 6, 2017 State Farm supervisor Nicholas Frampton reviewed the file and informed the adjuster that the Plaintiff was “submitting this new information past the statute of limitations” he instructed the adjuster that State Farm was “unable to determine if damages were related to this loss or a new event” and the adjuster was to advise the policy holder “that this will not be covered due to late reporting” (*SF claims file pg. 3;R. p. 163*)

In January of 2018, State Farm with no prior notice of the closing of the claim advised the Plaintiff they were no longer accepting any other information regarding damaged items related to this incident and denied payment on all the items she had submitted over the past year. (*Exh. E - SF letter dated 1/10/2018*). The Plaintiff filed suit on October 12, 2018, for breach of contract by the Defendant.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

a. The Proper Standard of Review For The Dismissal of Plaintiff’s Causes of Actions Based on Defendant’s Summary Judgment Motion.

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact, and it is clear the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Rule 56(c), SCRPC*. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994) citing *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 329-30, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009).

As established in *Hill v. York County Sheriff's Dep't*, 313 S.C. 303, 305, 437 S.E.2d 179, 180 (Ct.App.1993), when evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the issue should be submitted to the jury; *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 448, 635 S.E.2d 631,

638 (2006). "At the summary judgment stage of the proceedings, it is only necessary for the nonmoving party to submit a scintilla of evidence warranting determination by a jury for summary judgment to be denied." *Hill*, 313 S.C. at 308, 437 S.E.2d at 182; *see also Hancock* at 330. (clarifying and reaffirming in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the nonmoving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment); *Murphy v. Tyndall*, 384 S.C. 50, 54, 681 S.E.2d 28, 30 (Ct.App. 2009).

b. The Standard of Review For the Dismissal of Plaintiff's Fraud Cause of Action Based on the Prior Order and Defendant's Motion to Dismiss.

In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007). In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. *Id.*

In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, state any valid claim for relief. *Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 515, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826 (2009). "The trial court and this [C]ourt on appeal must presume all well pled facts to be true." *Morrow Crane Co. v. T.R. Tucker Constr. Co.*, 296 S.C. 427, 429, 373 S.E.2d 701, 702 (Ct. App. 1988). "[P]leadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. Further, a judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts." *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991) (citation omitted). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Doe*, 373

S.C. at 395, 645 S.E.2d at 248; *HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington*, 389 S.C. 623, 631-32, 699 S.E.2d 699, 703 (Ct. App. 2010)

ARGUMENT

I The Statute of Limitations For Breach of Contract Based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 Is Three Years from the Date of the Breach.

A statute of limitations generally begins to run on the date a cause of action accrues, and a breach of contract action usually accrues at the time a contract is breached or broken. *Richland-Lexington Airport Dist. v. American Airlines, Inc.*, 306 F. Supp. 2d 548, 566 (D.S.C.2002); *Livingston v. Sims*, 197 S.C. 458, 462, 15 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1941), *overruled on other grounds by Santee Portland Cement Co. v. Daniel Intl. Corp.*, 299 S.C. 269, 384 S.E.2d 693 (1989) (discovery rule applies in contract actions), *overruled on other grounds by Atlas Food Systems & Servs., Inc. v. Crane Natl. Vendors Div. of Unidynamics Corp.*, 319 S.C. 556, 462 S.E.2d 858 (1995). *State v. McClinton*, 369 S.C. 167, 173, 631 S.E.2d 895, 898 (2006).

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