**RECEIVED**

**Feb 23 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000797

---

Sandra R. Hoffman, ..... Appellant,

v.

State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, ..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

WHELAN MELLEN & NORRIS, LLC

Robert W. Whelan, Esquire  
Post Office Box 939  
Charleston, SC 29402  
(843) 998-7099

*Attorneys for Respondent*

**

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

The discovery rule exists to protect the diligent plaintiff who, despite her reasonable efforts, is unaware of a potential right of action against a defendant. *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church*,

341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000) (noting “the discovery rule exists to avoid the harsh and unjust result of closing the courtroom doors to a plaintiff whose ‘blameless ignorance’ resulted in a failure to pursue a cause of action within the limitations period”). However, the discovery rule does not operate to protect a plaintiff like Hoffman who, despite knowledge of a potential cause of action, fails to act with reasonable diligence or take appropriate action to protect her rights. *Id.* (“The limitations period is intended to run against those who are neglectful of their rights and who fail to exercise reasonable diligence in enforcing their rights.”).

Hoffman contends the law enables her to sit on her hands in perpetuity without informing her insurer of a loss. And whenever she chooses to make a claim for those items—in this case nearly four years after the loss—she posits the statute of limitations provides an additional three years after the denial of such a claim to bring suit. Under Hoffman’s theory, she could have waited as long as she wanted—she argued to Judge Dickson she could have waited *ten years*—to inform the insurance company of a right to benefits under the insurance contract before the statute of limitations commenced. (R. 48)

In fact, Hoffman says she still has multiple boxes of damaged items she still hasn’t looked through. (*See*, R. 67 (noting there are still “many boxes [that] got wet [and] I haven’t even looked through those boxes”).) Just as she did with the seven hundred items submitted nearly four years after the loss, Hoffman is keeping her options open, stating that looking through the boxes to determine what is damaged “is something I’ll get to down the road, you know, if I have time.” (R. 67-68.)<sup>5</sup> As long as State Farm remains unaware of her damaged items, she argues, it cannot adjust her claim and the statute of limitations can never begin. And, according to Hoffman’s theory, the

---

<sup>5</sup> In October 2017 when submitting the seven hundred plus new items to State Farm, Hoffman told State Farm that, if it would not pay her what she was looking for, she would continue adding items to the claim. (R. 91-92.)

law will provide her a completely new statute of limitations “down the road” whenever she gets time to see what else was damaged. She also would be free to add other items she knows about but has thus far chosen not to request payment for including: “my pictures,” “the kids’ toys and stuff,” “a lot of my husband’s stuff that I just threw away,” “costume jewelry,” “Bowflex” exercise equipment, and exercise weights. (R. 68, 86, 92)

Hoffman’s argument sets a dangerous precedent and flies in the face of the purpose of statutes of limitation and the discovery rule. Her argument does not stimulate a plaintiff to act promptly; on the contrary, it rewards a plaintiff’s apathy while depriving a defendant of certainty. The discovery rule should be a shield for an uninformed Plaintiff, not a sword to excuse lethargy. Endorsing Hoffman’s interpretation of the discovery rule would enable a would-be litigant to turn the principles behind the statute of limitations on their head: doing the opposite of “stimulat[ing] activity, punish[ing] negligence, and promot[ing] repose,” and should be rejected. *Carolina Marine Handling Inc.* at 175, 609 S.E. 2d at 552.

**D. As an additional sustaining ground, this Court could find the statute of limitations began to run no later than the date Hoffman filed a formal claim with State Farm.**

As an additional sustaining ground, the Court could find the statute of limitations ran three years after the date of Hoffman’s “formally filing a claim on February 4, 2014.” (Br. of Appellant at 11). *See ION, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (confirming courts may affirm for any additional sustaining ground appearing the record). Hoffman claims the circuit court erred by holding the statute of limitations began to run on January 8, 2014, the day she discovered her loss and notified her insurance agent. Even if this Court does not accept this argument, the Court could also affirm the circuit court by holding the statute began to run no later than February 4, 2014—when Hoffman admits she made a formal claim for benefits—or even

May 5, 2014—90 days after her formal claim for benefits. (*See Compl.*, R. 26 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-40 (providing for potential attorneys’ fees when an insurer has not paid a claim within ninety days))). Hoffman’s suit was filed well over four years after either scenario, so the Court’s use of either date as the trigger for the statute of limitations would provide additional sustaining grounds for the lower court’s ruling.

**E. Hoffman’s claim is not saved by the doctrine of equitable estoppel or equitable tolling.**

1. *Hoffman’s equitable estoppel and/or equitable tolling theory has not been preserved for appellate review.*

To successfully preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must be: “(1) raised and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 302, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (quoting Jean Hoefler Toal *et al.*, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, 57 (2d ed. 2002)).

Hoffman did not argue to the circuit court State Farm was estopped to rely on the statute of limitations. The words “equity” or “estoppel” or their derivatives were not uttered in Hoffman’s fifteen-page opposition brief or during the December 17, 2020, hearing. Similarly, no argument was made at the hearing concerning reliance—one of the key concepts for any estoppel theory—and her fifteen-page brief only mentioned the word “rely” or its derivatives in Section III, which attempted to show she appropriately pleaded the elements of fraud. (Br. of Appellant at 6-12). In short, Hoffman never raised equitable estoppel or tolling until after the trial court issued its ruling. Accordingly, this argument is not preserved for appellate review.

2. *Equitable tolling does not apply under these facts.*

Even if Plaintiff argued equitable tolling in the trial court, which she did not, it does not apply under these facts. Equitable tolling is a doctrine that is “rarely applied” and “reserved for extraordinary circumstances.” *See, e.g., American Legion Post 15 v. Horry Cnty*, 381 S.C. 576, 674 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2009). Our courts have recognized “equitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly.” *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs & Rehab Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 687 S.E. 2d 29 (2009) (quoting American Jurisprudence). Moreover, it is Hoffman’s burden to prove facts showing this rare and extraordinary doctrine should be applied. *Id.*

Equitable tolling is available only to a “diligent plaintiff,” and no reasonable fact finder could find an insured who waits three years and nine months to submit a claim for 700 items and another ten months after denial to file suit was diligent. *See American Legion Post 15* at 583, 674 S.E.2d at 184. Additionally, equitable tolling is only applicable in those rare cases where the delay in filing suit “has been induced by the defendant’s conduct.” *Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 488 S.E.2d 327 (1997). Such inducement must consist either “of an express representation that the claim will be settled without litigation or conduct that suggests a lawsuit is not necessary.” *Id.* (quoting *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 130, 442 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1994)).

Many times the South Carolina Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have affirmed summary judgment on equitable estoppel where a plaintiff claimed an adverse party tricked her into not filing suit. In *Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2*, cited by Hoffman in her initial brief, the South Carolina Supreme Court held express statements by an adverse party conveying an interest in settling a case pre-suit were insufficient to create a question of material fact to defeat summary judgment on the statute of limitations. 327 S.C. 55, 488 S.E.2d 327 (1997). Similarly, the Supreme Court held actual settlement negotiations concerning a putative suit were insufficient as a matter of law to justify denial of summary judgment. *Gadsden v. Southern Railroad*, 262 S.C. 590, 206

S.E.2d 882 (1974); *see also*, *Vines v. Self Mem. Hosp.*, 314 S.C. 305, 443 S.E.2d 909 (1994) (adversary’s assistance of the plaintiff with completing claims forms was not sufficient to defeat summary judgment); *Moates v. Bobb*, 322 S.C. 172, 470 S.E.2d 402 (Ct.App.1996) (fact an insurer wrote plaintiff expressing a goal of settlement and requested information so the parties could “get moving on settlement” was not sufficient to support equitable tolling).

As was the case in *Black*, *Gadsden*, *Vines*, and *Moates*, Hoffman simply cannot meet her burden of proving State Farm made “an express representation that the claim will be settled without litigation or conduct that suggest a lawsuit is not necessary.” Hoffman’s delay in submitting her 700-item list was not caused by State Farm. When asked why it took her two years to submit the first fifty items, she explained it was due to the volume of items, the difficulty of listing them, and her health condition. (R. 75-76.) As for why it took three years and nine months to submit the second set of items, Hoffman’s testimony was similar. (R. 76.)<sup>6</sup> And the conduct complained of in Hoffman’s Initial Brief—that State Farm had a twenty-minute phone conversation with Hoffman three years and nine months after the loss and participated in evaluating her claim—occurred after the statute of limitations expired and could not have been relied upon to Hoffman’s detriment.

This is not a situation in which State Farm informed Hoffman she need not file a suit, misrepresented the statute of limitations, or otherwise led her to believe no suit was necessary. In fact, Hoffman’s brief admits State Farm “never discussed the statute of limitations with Ms. Hoffman at any time.” (Br. of Appellant at 4 (quoting deposition testimony of T. Edwards).) Indeed, the estoppel section of her brief reveals she is, at bottom, complaining State Farm did not inform her when the statute of limitations would expire. (Br. of Appellant at 15 (“The Plaintiff

---

<sup>6</sup> Hoffman also described a potential computer glitch on State Farm’s website that was fixed after “maybe a couple of weeks.” (R. 76.)

testified that ...she did not know what the statute of limitations was for her claim...[and] I just assumed that since she told me about the opening of the claim, that she would tell me if the claim was coming near the closing.”)).

In sum, even if her equitable estoppel argument was preserved, which it was not, Hoffman has not presented evidence to satisfy her burden, and this case does not present the rare and exceptional circumstances needed to give rise to equitable tolling.

**F. The loss settlement provisions providing insureds may recover additional benefits if they replace property within two years does not alter the statute of limitations or the discovery rule.**

At page three of her brief Hoffman claims under the dwelling coverage (coverage A) an insured “must” repair or replace the property within two years, but she claims that for personal property (coverage B) there is “no time limitation.” (Br. of Appellant at 3.) Hoffman appears to suggest a perceived difference in the loss-settlement provisions applicable to dwelling coverage and personal property saves her from the statute of limitations. This argument fails not only because the difference she points to doesn’t exist, but also because the replacement cost time limit has no bearing on the statute of limitations.

First, Hoffman is mistaken in her assertion losses are settled differently under dwelling and personal property coverages. The loss settlement provisions are contained at pages eleven through thirteen of the policy booklet. (Policy pp. 11-13, R. 110) The dwelling coverage provides for actual cash value payments of damaged property. (Policy p. 11, R. 110) After repair or replacement of the damaged property, the insured may become entitled to recover the depreciated amounts up to the actual replacement cost. But, to receive these additional benefits, the insured “must complete the actual repair or replacement of the damaged part of the property within two years after the date

of loss.”<sup>7</sup> (Policy p. 11, R. 110) Thus, if an insured recovered actual cash value payments but chose not to repair or replace her property within two years of the loss, she would be ineligible to recover the additional replacement cost benefits.

Similarly, personal property is addressed in section B1 “Limited Replacement Cost Loss Settlement.” For most items “[u]ntil repair or replacement is completed, we will pay only the cost to repair or replace less depreciation.” (Policy p. 12, R. 110) Again, an insured would not be entitled to recover replacement cost benefits unless the property was “repaired or replaced within two years after the date of loss.” (Policy p. 12, R. 110) So, Hoffman’s claim that there is a “time limitation” for dwelling coverage but not for personal property is simply wrong.

Second, the deadline to replace property to obtain replacement cost benefits under the contract, compared to the statute of limitations, are apples and oranges. The statute of limitations addresses the time Hoffman has to file suit against State Farm and is a function of South Carolina law. On the other hand, the time within which to obtain replacement cost benefits is imposed by the contract. Although the time within which to obtain replacement costs may limit an insured’s recovery of certain policy benefits, it has no bearing on whether or when an insured must file suit.<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> The entire sub-paragraph at issue is below. Hoffman’s brief creates confusion by citing only a portion of it.

(3) to receive any additional payments on a replacement cost basis, you must complete the actual repair or replacement of the damaged part of the property within two years after the date of loss, and notify us within 30 days after the work has been completed....

<sup>8</sup> In fact, the Policy requires that any suit for benefits must be started within one year after the date of the loss or damage. (Policy p. 14, R. 111) However, under the South Carolina Code section 15-3-140, this provision could not be enforced because it would act to shorten the statute of limitations. Nevertheless, section 140 makes clear that the plaintiff’s suit would still have to be brought within the statute of limitations. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-140 (holding an “action may be brought notwithstanding such clause, provision or agreement **if brought within the time prescribed by the statute of limitations** in reference to like causes of action.”) (emphasis added).

Indeed, Hoffman has been unable to point to any case law or other authority suggesting a deadline to replace property under the policy could somehow eliminate the statute of limitations or discovery rule. No such authority exists, and her argument is unavailing. The lower court's order should be affirmed.

**II. The Lower Court Correctly Ruled State Farm Was Entitled to Judgment as a Matter of Law With Respect to Hoffman's Cause of Action for Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act.**

Hoffman does not challenge the fact Rule 9 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure required her to plead her allegations of fraud with particularity. Rather, she claims her complaint met this standard.

**A. Judge Manning's June 10, 2019, un-appealed order is the law of the case and Hoffman's non-compliance with the order warranted dismissal.**

Hoffman continues to disregard Judge Manning's June 10, 2019, order stating she "**shall** have thirty days from the date of this order to amend her complaint to state her cause of action for BOCAF with **more** particularity." (R. 22 (emphasis added)). She did not and has not appealed that order and it remains the law of the case. *See Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Ctr.*, 393 S.C. 1, 709 S.E.2d 65, 68 (Ct. App. 2011) ("Appellant may not seek relief from the prior unappealed order of the circuit court because the order has become the law of the case." (quoting *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2000))).

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